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The directors of IG Seismic Services Limited (the “Company”) (together with its subsidiaries 
referred to as "the Group") present their report and audited financial statements as of and 
for the year ended 31 December 2011, 2010 and 2009. 
 
Principal activities 
 
The Group provides data acquisition, processing and interpretation services to the petroleum 
industry in the Russian Federation, the Commonwealth of Independent States (“CIS”) and 
other countries outside of the CIS. 
 
Results of operations for the period and dividends 
 
The results of the Group for the year are set out on page 7 of the consolidated financial 
statements. Sales of the Group in 2011 reached 364,629, compared with 343,532 in 2010 
and 293,947 in 2009. EBITDA in 2011 was 79,313 (2010: 89,588; 2009: 78,649). EBIDTA 
calculation is presented in Note 5. 
 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared. One share has 
one vote at annual and general shareholders' meetings of the Company. No dividends were 
declared and paid for ordinary shares in respect of 2011, 2010 and 2009. 
 
Changes during the year 
 
On 9 November 2011 Integra Group, Schlumberger Oilfield Holdings Limited 
(“Schlumberger”), Geotech Oil Services Holding Limited (“GOSH”) and IG Seismic Services 
Limited (“IGSS”) entered into a conditional agreement to combine IGSS, the entity through 
which Integra Group and Schlumberger conduct their land and transition zone seismic joint 
venture in Russia and the CIS, with GOSH's seismic business, conducted through Geotech 
Holding JSC (“Geotech Holding”). 
 
On 30 December 2011 Integra Group, Schlumberger, GOSH and IGSS completed the above 
transaction (further “Transaction”). The combination was effected through the transfer by 
GOSH of total outstanding shares of Geotech Holding JSC to IGSS in exchange for newly 
issued shares in IGSS. Following completion of the Transaction, Integra Group holds 36%, 
Schlumberger holds 12%, and GOSH holds 52% of the entire enlarged issued share capital of 
IGSS. The Transaction was approved by Integra Group shareholders at the Extraordinary 
General Meeting held on 5 December 2011 and received required anti-monopoly approvals on 
30 December 2011. 
 
Future development 
 
IGSS will continue to offer high quality seismic acquisition, data processing and interpretation 
services.  
 
Share capital 
 
Authorized capital 
 
At 31 December 2011, the authorized capital was USD 208,334 divided into 
20,833,400 ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each. 
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Capital issued and paid 
 
As at 31 December 2011, the issued share capital was USD 208,334 divided into 20,833,400 
ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each. 
 
Changes in share capital during the year ended 31 December 2011 are disclosed in Note 17 
of the financial statements. 
 
Risk management 
 
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise accounts receivable and payable, 
including loans receivable and payable, and cash, which arise directly from its operations. 
During the reporting year, the Group did not undertake any trade operations involving 
financial instruments. Risk analysis is disclosed in Notes 30 and 31. 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The structure of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report 
is presented on page 1. 
 
Directors are subject to appointment or removal according to the provision of Shareholders 
Agreement.  
 
Independent Directors are subject to re-election at regular intervals. 
 
Events after the reporting date 
 
All significant events that occurred after the reporting date are described in Note 33 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Independent auditor 
 
The independent auditors, Ernst & Young Cyprus Limited, were appointed by the Board of 
Directors in replacement of the previous auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited and have 
expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution giving authority to the Board of 
Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
By order of the Board 
 
____________________ 
Denis Cherednichenko 
 
Director 
 
Nicosia 
 
24 April 2012 
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 Note 
At 31 December  

2011 
At 31 December  

2010 
At 31 December  

2009 
At 1 January  

2009 
Assets      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment  9 464,049 362,882 325,079 351,545 
Goodwill 6 102,747 80,708 81,329 83,720 
Intangible assets other than goodwill 7 12,762 196 302 521 
Investments in associates 10 21,574 21,861 30,316 31,006 
Deferred tax assets 12 10,164 6,613 2,335 1,661 
Other non-current assets 11 3,521 2,224 903 3,510 
Total non-current assets   614,817 474,484 440,264 471,963 
      Current assets      
Inventories  13 66,200 62,160 54,190 54,325 
Accounts receivable and 

prepayments 14 266,952 187,352 133,615 110,253 
Other financial assets 15 6,831 19,503 20,361 5,021 
VAT receivable  13,575 14,427 6,245 13,485 
Prepayments for income tax  3,610 3,396 3,156 5,593 
Other current assets  2,351 3,465 2,715 1,849 
Cash and cash equivalents 16 13,187 9,177 12,109 14,885 
Total current assets   372,706 299,480 232,391 205,411 
Assets held for sale 11 – – – 5,106 
Total assets  987,523 773,964 672,655 682,480 

 

Equity and liabilities      
Equity      
Share capital 17 208 100 3 - 
Share premium 17 443,712 223,903 - - 
Reverse acquisition reserve 17 (192,849) (224,002) (2) 1 
Other non-distributable reserves 17 94,979 94,979 94,979 94,979 
Foreign currency translations reserve  (9,334) (6,601) (4,291) – 
Accumulated (losses) / retained 

earnings  (21,566) 28,008 16,899 461 
Total shareholders' equity  315,150 116,387 107,588 95,441 
       Non-controlling interest 4 36,320 11,685 11,511 18,008 
Total equity  351,470 128,072 119,099 113,449 
      Non-current liabilities      
Loans and borrowings 18 204,313 205,558 60,490 17,421 
Finance lease liabilities 19 4,130 11,235 859 1,597 
Promissory notes payable  20 14,619 20,960 22,797 153 
Other non-current liabilities  872 – – – 
Deferred tax liabilities 12 47,462 34,366 33,768 35,296 
Total non-current liabilities  271,396 272,119 117,914 54,467 
      Current liabilities      
Loans and borrowings 18 147,886 128,301 191,592 220,577 
Promissory notes payable 20 5,884 49,457 70,867 78,651 
Accounts payable 20 126,280 121,474 110,251 177,915 
Income tax payable  2,495 2,770 1,149 2,164 
Other taxes payable 21 65,936 52,975 42,496 23,992 
Provisions 22 3,061 5,589 18,618 8,538 
Finance lease liabilities 19 13,115 13,207 669 2,727 
Total current liabilities  364,657 373,773 435,642 514,564 
Total liabilities  636,053 645,892 553,556 569,031 

Total liabilities and equity   987,523 773,964 672,655 682,480 
 

These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 
24 April 2012 and were signed on its behalf by: 
   
Nikolay Levitskiy  Denis Cherednichenko 
Director  Director 
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 Note 2011 2010 2009 

Continuing operations     

Revenue 24 364,629 343,532 293,947 
Cost of sales 25 (287,256) (243,109) (200,578) 
Gross profit  77,373 100,423 93,369 
     
General and administrative expenses 26 (50,779) (43,862) (36,116) 
Other operating income 27 15,339 7,381 729 
Other operating expense 27 (21,444) (10,614) (14,954) 
Operating profit   20,489 53,328 43,028 
     
Finance income 28 2,197 17,486 27,741 
Finance expense 28 (51,208) (47,360) (54,972) 
Net foreign exchange loss  (1,837) (12) (1,717) 
Share in (loss)/profit of an associate 10 (4,735) (7,939) 605 
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing 

operations  (35,094) 15,503 14,685 
     
Income tax (expense)/benefit 12 (8,551) 117 (8,394) 
(Loss)/profit for the period from continuing 

operations  (43,645) 15,620 6,291 
      
Discontinued operations     
(Loss)/profit after tax for the year from 

discontinued operations 8 (8,370) (4,401) 7,165 

(Loss)/profit for the period  (52,015) 11,219 13,456 
 
Other comprehensive income     
Translation difference  (3,084) (2,569) (4,811) 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income  (55,099) 8,650 8,645 
     
(Loss)/profit for the period attributable to:     
Shareholders of the parent company  (49,212) 9,792 11,096 
Non-controlling interests  (2,803) 1,427 2,360 
      
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 

attributable to:      
Shareholders of the Parent Company  (51,945) 7,482 6,805 
Non-controlling interests  (3,154) 1,168 1,840 
     
Loss/(earning) per share     

Basic, (loss)/profit for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent 29 (4.19) 0.90 1.02 

Diluted, (loss)/profit for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent 29 (4.19) 0.90 1.02 
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 Note 2011 2010 2009 
Cash flows from operating activities     
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations  (35,094) 15,503 14,685 
(Loss)/profit before tax from discontinued 

operations  (10,535) (10,083) 11,180 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortization 25, 26 35,874 38,383 32,740 
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment  537 844 (432) 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

and non-current assets 27 15,552 3,368 5,899 
Gain from restructuring 28 – – (8,933) 
Gain from redemption of promissory notes 28 (1,255) (16,064) (18,011) 
Net interest expense  40,605 42,876 50,713 
Unwinding of discount of payables for acquisition 

of subsidiaries 28 9,661 7,663 7,729 
Net foreign exchange loss  1,837 12 1,717 
Share of profit of an associate 10 4,735 7,939 (605) 
Cash flow from operating activities before 

changes in working capital  61,917 90,441 96,682 
      
Working capital adjustments net of acquisitions     
Change in accounts receivable  (7,100) (45,338) (19,870) 
Change in inventories  16,122 (8,530) 1,687 
Change in prepayments and other current assets  6,415 (9,333) (5,692) 
Change in accounts payable   (16,671) 12,361 (58,648) 
Change in taxes payable other than income tax  2,144 10,938 19,459 
Change in provisions  (2,292) (12,936) 10,470 
Cash flow before income tax  60,535 37,603 44,088 
Income tax paid  (4,797) (5,745) (12,131) 
Net cash from operating activities  55,738 31,858 31,957 
      
Investing activities     
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (26,207) (14,282) (34,628) 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and 

equipment  4,334 7,810 2,376 
Short-term loans issued  (491) (12,670) (5,639) 
Repayment of loans issued  12,672 7,023 1,588 
Interest received  27 983 5 
Dividends received  239 314 418 
Cash acquired in business combination 4 5,010 – – 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 8 18,353 – – 
Net cash received/(used) in investing activities  13,937 (10,822) (35,880) 
      
Financing activities     
Proceeds from loans and borrowings  217,056 281,220 303,014 
Repayment of finance lease obligations  (25,617) (27,473) (6,572) 
Repayment of loans and borrowings  (167,757) (223,901) (238,421) 
Interest paid  (33,352) (34,348) (34,137) 
Redemption of promissory notes  (55,483) (19,687) (19,357) 
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests  – 323 (2,995) 
Net cash (used)/received from financing activities  (65,153) (23,866) 1,532 
           
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents  4,522 (2,830) (2,391) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

reporting period 16 9,177 12,109 14,885 
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash 

equivalents  (512) (102) (385) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

reporting period 16 13,187 9,177 12,109 
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 Attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company   

 
Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

Reverse 
acquisition 

reserve 

Other non-
distributable 

reserves 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Accumulated 
(losses) / 
retained 
earnings Total 

Non-
controlling 

interest 
Total  
equity 

          

Balance as at 1 January 2009 – - 1 94,979 – 461 95,441 18,008 113,449 
Net profit for the period – - – – – 11,096 11,096 2,360 13,456 
Translation difference – - – – (4,291) – (4,291) (520) (4,811) 
Total compehensive income – - – – (4,291) 11,096 6,805 1,840 8,645 
Issue of share capital (Note 17) 3 - (3) - – - – – – 
Acquisition of non-controlling interest – - – – – 5,342 5,342 (8,337) (2,995) 

Balance as at 31 December 2009 3 - (2) 94,979 (4,291) 16,899 107,588 11,511 119,099 
           Balance as at 1 January 2010 3 - (2) 94,979 (4,291) 16,899 107,588 11,511 119,099 
Net profit for the period – - – – – 9,792 9,792 1,427 11,219 
Translation difference – - – – (2,310) – (2,310) (259) (2,569) 
Total compehensive income – - – – (2,310) 9,792 7,482 1,168 8,650 
Issue of share capital (Note 17) 97 223,903 (224,000) – – – – – – 
Acquisition of non-controlling interest – - – – – 1,317 1,317 (994) 323 

Balance as at 31 December 2010 100 223,903 (224,002) 94,979 (6,601) 28,008 116,387 11,685 128,072 
          Balance as at 1 January 2011 100 223,903 (224,002) 94,979 (6,601) 28,008 116,387 11,685 128,072 
Net (loss) for the period – - – – – (49,212) (49,212) (2,803) (52,015) 
Translation difference – - – – (2,733) – (2,733) (351) (3,084) 
Total compehensive expense – - – – (2,733) (49,212) (51,945) (3,154) (55,099) 
Business combination (Note 4) 108 219,809 31,153 – – – 251,070 27,427 278,497 
Change in non-controlling interest – - – – – (362) (362) 362 – 

Balance as at 31 December 2011 208 443,712 (192,849) 94,979 (9,334) (21,566) 315,150 36,320 351,470 
 
Companies which do not distribute 70% of their profits after tax, as defined by the relevant tax law, within two years after the end of the relevant tax 
year, will be deemed to have distributed as dividends 70% of these profits. Special contribution for defense at 20% for the tax years 2012 and 2013 
and 17% for 2014 and thereafter (in 2011 the rate was 15% up to 30 August 2011 and 17% thereafter) will be payable on such deemed dividends 
distribution. Profits and to the extent that these are attributable to shareholders, who are not tax resident of Cyprus and own shares in the Company 
either directly and / or indirectly at the end of two years from the end of the tax year to which the profits relate, are exempted. The amount of 
deemed distribution is reduced by any actual dividends paid out of the profits of the relevant year at any time. This special contribution for defense is 
payable by the Company for the account of the shareholders. 
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1. Background 
 
Organizational structure and operations 
 
These are consolidated financial statements of IG Seismic Services Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) which engage in provision of data acquisition, 
processing and interpretation services to the petroleum industry in the Russian Federation, the 
Commonwealth of Independent States (“CIS”) and other countries outside of the CIS.  
 
The Company was incorporated in Cyprus as a private limited liability company in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Law, Cap. 113. Its registered office is located at 2-4 Arch. 
Makariou III Avenue, Capital Center, 9th floor, P.C. 1065, Nicosia, Cyprus. On the date of 
incorporation, the Company was named Celymas Enterprises Limited. As of 9 August 2010 the 
Company was renamed to IG Seismic Services Limited. 
 
On 30 December 2011 total outstanding shares of Geotech Holding JSC were transferred by 
Geotech Holding JSC shareholders in exchange for newly issued shares in IGSS representing 52% 
of equity. This transaction was accounted for as a reverse acquisition of IGSS by Geotech 
Holding JSC and as such, these financial statements are presented as a continuation of Geotech 
Holding JSC with one adjustment, which is to adjust retrospectively the Geotech Holding JSC 
share capital to reflect the legal capital of IGSS. Comparative information presented in these 
financial statements is therefore that of Geotech Holding JSC, the legal subsidiary, as adjusted 
to reflect the legal capital of IGSS. The assets and liabilities of IGSS were consolidated starting 
from 30 December 2011 and measured at their fair values as of that date. 
 
The information related to major operating subsidiaries and associates of the Group as at 
31 December 2011, 2010, 2009 and 1 January 2009 is presented below. In 2009-2011, the 
Group increased its ownership interest through acquisition of the shares of non-controlling 
shareholders. The Group did not pursue any business acquisitions throughout 2011 except for 
presented in Note 4. Operating segment information is presented in Note 5. 
 

Company 
Business  
activity 

Country of 
incorpo-
ration 

Effective control at 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 
31 December 

2009 
1 January 

2009 

CJSC GEOTECH Holding 
Company 

Holding 
company 

Russian 
Federation 99.86% 100% 100% 100% 

OAO Integra Geophysics 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 88.4% - - - 

OOO Geoprime 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 100% - - - 
JSC Azimuth Energy 

Services 
Geophysical 

services Kazakhstan 95.2% - - - 

JSC Geostan 
Geophysical 

services Kazakhstan 99.5% - - - 
OJSC Naryan-

Marseismorazvedka 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 86.06% 85.24% 85.24% 85.24% 

OJSC Severgeofizika  
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 99.86% 100% 100% 100% 
OJSC Khantymansiysk-

geofizika 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 93.87% 94% 94% 93.82% 
OJSC Orenburgskaya 

Geophisicheskaya 
Expeditsiya 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 68.32% 68.41% 69.59% 50.13% 

OJSC Centralnaya 
Geophisicheskaya 
Expeditsiya 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 93.05% 93.18% 95.08% 92.92% 
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1. Background (continued)  
 

Company 
Business  
activity 

Country of 
incorpo-
ration 

Effective control at 
31 December 

2011 
31 December 

2010 
31 December 

2009 
1 January 

2009 

LLC Boguchanskaya 
Geophisicheskaya 
Expeditsiya 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 89.75% 89.54% 92.04% 91.39% 

CJSC Geotech-Vostochnaya 
Geophisicheskaya 
Kompaniya 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 93.87 94% – – 

OJSC Yeniseigeofizika** 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 44.33% 44.41% 44.48% 45.78% 
LLC Ilimpeiskaya 

Geophisicheskaya 
Expeditsiya** 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 44.33% 44.41% 44.48% 45.78% 

LLC Geologiya Reservuara 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 80.73% 80.84% 80.84% 80.68% 
CJSC 

SeismicheskieTechnologii 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 92.08% 92.20% 92.20% 92.02% 
CJSC Zapadnosibirskaya 

Geophisicheskaya 
Companiya* 

Geophysical 
services 

Russian 
Federation 99.86% 100% 100% 99.20% 

LLC Seismos 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 99.86% 100% 100% 100% 

LLC Evenkiageofizika 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 99.86% 100% 100% 99.20% 
CJSC Novosibneftegaz-

geofizika** 
Geophysical 

services 
Russian 

Federation 74.90% 75% 50% 50% 

CJSC Intaneft 
Drilling 
services 

Russian 
Federation – 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Agan-Burenie  
Drilling 
services 

Russian 
Federation – 100% 100% 100% 

CJSC Geotech-Vostochnaya 
Burovaya Kompaniya 

Drilling 
services 

Russian 
Federation – 100% – – 

* As at 31 December 2009 the company was in the process of the reorganization. On 3 February 
2010, the procedure of the reorganization was finalized. 

** Although the effective interest of the Group in the company didn’t exceed 50%, this company was 
considered a subsidiary of the Group because the Group has had control over the operating and 
financial activities through a majority of representatives in the Board of Directors of the company, 
and non-Group ownership interest has been diluted between a significant number of non-controlling 
shareholders.  
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2. Basis of preparation  
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the 
requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap.113. 
 
The Group entities registered in the territory of the Russian Federation ("RF") maintain 
accounting records and prepare financial reports in accordance with Federal Law No.129-FZ 
"Concerning Accounting", the Statute Concerning Accounting and Reporting in the RF and 
Accounting Statements as approved by relevant orders of the RF Ministry of Finance.  
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the Russian statutory 
accounting data adjusted for the purposes of presentation in accordance with IFRS. 
 
First time adoption of IFRS 
 
As discussed in Notes 1 and 4, these financial statements are presented as a continuation of 
Geotech Holding JSC (“Geotech Holding”). Geotech Holding has not previously prepared IFRS 
financial statements and therefore these consolidated financial statements are the first set of 
IFRS financial statements. For the purpose of preparation of these financial statements the 
assets and liabilities were measured at the carrying amounts that have been included in the 
consolidated financial statements of its parent, Geotech Oil Services Holding Limited (“GOSH”), 
based on the GOSH’s date of transition to IFRSs. 
 
Basis of measurement 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except 
for certain items that have been measured at fair value as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below. The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars ("USD") and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Functional and presentation currency 
 
Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity 
operates and is normally the currency in which the entity primarily generates and expends cash. 
 
The US dollar ("USD") is the presentation currency for the Group. The functional currency of the 
major subsidiaries of the Group is Russian Rouble ("RUR"). 
 
Translation from functional currency to the presentation currency is made in accordance with 
IAS 21 The Effect of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rate as follows:  

(1) asset and liability accounts at the rate of exchange in effect at the reporting date,  

(2) revenues and expenses at the exchange rate at the date of transaction or at the weighted 
average exchange rate for the year, if it approximates the exchange rates at the dates of 
transactions, and  
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)  
 
Functional and presentation currency (continued)  
 
(3) shareholders equity accounts at historical exchange rates. Translation gains or losses are 

recorded as a separate component of the shareholders' equity. Any goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 

 
The official RUR to USD exchange rates established by the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation ("CBR"), as at 31 December 2011, 2010, 2009 and 1 January 2009 were RUR 
32.1961, RUR 30.4769, 30.2442 and 29.3916 for one USD, respectively. The average RUR to 
USD exchange rates for 2011, 2010 and 2009 were 29.3874, 30.3692 and 31.7231 for one 
USD, respectively. The official RUR to USD exchange rate established by CBR as at the date of 
approval of these financial statements was  29.488 RUR for one USD.  
 
Going concern 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which 
contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the 
normal course of business. These accompanying financial statements do not include any 
adjustments that may be necessary if the Group is unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
In 2011 the Group incurred net loss of 52,015 (2010: 11,219 profit; 2009: 13,456 profit). 
2011 results were affected by a number of non-recurring items such as transaction costs related 
to business combination (Note 4); loss on disposal of discontinued operations (Note 8) and loss 
on disposal of PP&E and other non-current assets (Note 27).  
 
Following the business combination (Note 4), the management of the Group takes measures to 
reduce costs and improve its results of operations, including reducing headcount and reducing 
direct costs (for example, by negotiating price discounts and improved payment terms with 
existing suppliers These measures also include entering in the long-term seismic service 
contracts, which will enable Group to receive sustainable operating cash inflows during 2012-
2013 years. These factors will be the basis to generate sufficient profit for 2012 and further. 
 
The Group’s capital structure has improved significantly turning net liability position to the net 
assets position of 8,049 as at 31 December 2011. For a number of years, the Group has been 
able to successfully refinance its short-term debt, obtain new equity capital from existing and 
new investors and generate sufficient operating cash flow to ensure that it does not face a 
liquidity shortfall or default on its debt obligations. 
 
The Group’s liquidity has improved through obtaining of extended and lower-rate borrowings and 
use of funds released due to reduction of interest rates and restructuring of borrowings. 
Operating cash flows for 2011 experienced almost two times increase in comparison with 2010 
and 2009 with the same increase in interest coverage ratio.  
 
As a result, the Group’s directors consider that the application of the going concern assumption 
for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is appropriate. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)  
 
Significant accounting assumptions and estimates 
 
The Group makes a number of assumptions and estimates, which may affect the reporting of 
assets and liabilities in the next financial year. Estimates and assumptions are continuously 
assessed and are based on the management experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events, and are reasonable under the circumstances. In addition to these 
estimates, management also relies on certain judgments in applying the accounting policies. 
Most significant judgments, which affect the amounts recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements, and estimates, which may result in significant adjustment of the carrying value of 
assets and liabilities in the next financial year are presented below. 
 
Business valuation and impairment test 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
 
The following methodologies (in the course of priority) were applied to most assets valuations: 
• market valuation, 
• discounted cash flow (DCF) method, 
• multiples method. 
 
In most cases the asset value obtained using the primary method is controlled using a secondary 
method. If the controlling method produces a result which is different from that obtained using 
the primary method, the following algorithm is used: 
• the assumptions used in the primary and controlling methods are double-checked, 
• the factors causing the variation are tried to be determined, 
 
in case of identification of objective factors explaining the variation in valuation results, the 
result produced by the primary method shall be used. In the absence of objective factors 
explaining the difference in valuation results, the average of the two value estimates is used. 
Valuation techniques are in part based on assumptions that are not supported by observable 
market prices or rates. Management believes that changing any such assumption would not 
result in a significantly different value. 
 
Management has made a number of judgments, estimates and assumptions relating to the 
reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare 
these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates. 
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2. Basis of preparation (continued)  
 
Significant accounting assumptions and estimates (continued)  
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 
 
Construction contracts 
 
The Group applies judgments in measuring and recognizing contracts accounted for in 
accordance with IAS 11 Construction contracts. Revenue from construction contracts is 
recognized in the amount referred to the stage (percent) of the work performed depending on 
the completion of the contract. The percentage of completion is determined based on the 
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total 
contract costs. 
 
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 
 
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable is based on the assessment of probability of collecting 
receivables from certain counterparties. In case of overall deterioration of the customers' 
solvency or when an actual outstanding debt exceeds the estimated level, the actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 
Contingent tax liabilities 
 
Russian tax legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes occur frequently. When 
the Group's management believes that it is highly probable that tax authorities may challenge 
the Group's interpretation of the legislation applied and its position as related to the accuracy of 
tax calculation and payment, an appropriate provision is formed in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Litigations 
 
The Group's management exercises considerable judgment in measuring and recognizing 
provisions and the exposure to contingent liabilities related to pending litigations or other 
outstanding claims subject to negotiated settlement, mediation, arbitration or government 
regulation, as well as other contingent liabilities. 
 
Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability 
will arise, and quantifying the possible range of the final settlement. Because of the inherent 
uncertainties in this evaluation process, actual losses may be different from the originally 
estimated provision. These estimates are subject to change as new information becomes 
available, primarily with the support of internal specialists, if available, or with the support of 
outside consultants, such as actuaries or legal counsel. Revisions to the estimates may 
significantly affect future operating results. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies  
 
Changes in accounting policies and disclosure principles 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except 
as follows: 
 
Amendments to Standards effective in 2011: 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 
2011). 

• Amendments to IAS 24 Related Party Transactions (effective from 1 January 2011). 

• Amendments to IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting (effective from 1 January 2011). 

• Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(effective from 1 January 2011).  

• Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective from 1 July 2011). 

• Amendments to IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective from 1 January 2011). 

• Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (effective from 
1 January 2011). 

 
The adoption of standards and interpretations is described below: 
 
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies, but did 
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group: 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
The amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements specifies the information an entity 
has to include in its Statement of changes in equity. The Group has complied with this part of 
amendment. The amendment also provides the requirements to disclosures which are to be 
made in relation to dividends recognized as distributed to owners during the period and the 
related amount of dividends per share. This part of amendment has no effect on the Group's 
financial statements disclosures since no dividends were declared and paid in respect of 2011, 
2010 and 2009. 
 
IAS 24 Related Party Transactions 
The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the definitions of a related party. The 
new definitions emphasize a symmetrical view of related party relationships as well as clarifying 
in which circumstances persons and key management personnel affect related party 
relationships of an entity. Secondly, the amendment introduces an exemption from the general 
related party disclosure requirements for transactions with a government and entities that are 
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the same government as the reporting 
entity. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Changes in accounting policies and disclosure principles (continued)  
 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 
The amendment introduced additional requirements concerning the disclosure of the 
information about the circumstances, which will affect the fair value of financial instruments and 
their classification, and the changes of contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
The amendment was intended to simplify the disclosures provided by reducing the volume of 
disclosures around collateral held and improving disclosures by requiring qualitative information 
to put the quantitative information in context. The amendments will assist users to understand 
the implications of transfers of financial assets and the potential risks that may remain with the 
transferor. The amendment requires additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures relating 
to transfers of financial assets, when: financial assets are derecognized in their entirety, but the 
entity has a continuing involvement in them (e.g., options or guarantees on the transferred 
assets) and financial assets are not derecognized in their entirety. 
 
Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs to the following standards did not 
have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group: 

  Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards  

  Amendments to IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 

  Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement  
 

Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
Up to the date of approval of the financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations 
and amendments to existing standards have been published that are not yet effective for the 
current reporting period and which the Group has not early adopted. The Group is in the process 
of assessing the impact of these amendments on its next annual financial statements. This listing 
is of standards and interpretations issued, which the Group expects to be applicable at a future 
date: 
 
Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB and adopted by the EU: 

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amended) - Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure 
Requirements (Effective from 1 July 2011) 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
Standards and interpretations issued by the IASB but not yet adopted by the EU: 
 
New Standards and amendments to Standards not yet effective during 2011: 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 July 2012). 
• Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes (effective from 1 January 2012). 
• Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits (effective from 1 January 2013). 
• Amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective from 

1 January 2013). 
• Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates (effective from 1 January 2013). 
• Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (effective from 1 January 2014). 
• Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 

(effective from 1 July 2012).  
• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amended) - Offsetting Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities(effective from 1 January 2013) 
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2015). 
• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2013). 
• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective from 1 January 2013). 
• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective from 1 January 2013). 
• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
The amendment introduced new requirements to presentation of the information in Profit or loss 
statement and Other comprehensive income statement. The amendment requires profit (loss) 
statement and other comprehensive income statement to be presented together (either as a 
single statement of comprehensive income, or separate income statement and a statement of 
comprehensive income); it requires entities to group items presented in OCI based on whether 
they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently. i.e. those that might be 
reclassified and those that will not be reclassified; it also requires that tax associated with items 
have to be presented before tax to be shown separately for each of the two groups of OCI items 
(without changing the option to present items of OCI either before tax or net of tax) (effective 
from 1 July 2012). 
 
IAS 12 Income Taxes  
The amendment requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending 
on whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. 
The amendment introduces a presumption that recovery of the carrying amount will normally be 
through sale since it can be difficult and subjective to assess whether recovery will be through 
use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment 
Property. The amendments also incorporate SIC-21 Income Taxes – Recovery of Revalued Non-
Depreciable Assets into IAS 12 (effective from 1 January 2012).  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits  
Amendments require recognition of changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) including 
immediate recognition of defined benefit cost, disaggregation of defined benefit cost into 
components, recognition of remeasurements in other comprehensive income, plan amendments, 
curtailments and settlements. The amended IAS 19 modifies accounting for termination 
benefits, including distinguishing benefits provided in exchange for service and benefits provided 
in exchange for the termination of employment and affect the recognition and measurement of 
termination benefits. It also provides clarification of miscellaneous issues, including the 
classification of employee benefits, current estimates of mortality rates, tax and administration 
costs and risk-sharing and conditional indexation features. The amendments to IAS 19 also 
introduce enhanced disclosures about defined benefit plans and incorporate other matters 
submitted to the IFRS Interpretations Committee (effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements was amendment at 12 May 2011 as a 
result of the new standards IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12; amended IAS 27 Separate Financial 
Statements contains accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements. IAS 27 
Separate Financial Statements requires an entity preparing separate financial statements to 
account for those investments at cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
(effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
IAS 28 Investments in Associates was issued by the IASB on 12 May 2011 as a result of the new 
standards IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12; amended IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements 
for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint 
ventures (effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
The amendment prescribes rules for the offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities. It 
specifies that a financial asset and a financial liability should be offset and the net amount 
reported when, and only when, an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously (effective from 1 January 2014).  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
The amendments introduced new requirements to presentation of the information on financial 
assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 introduces a single approach to determine if a financial 
asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the different rules in IAS 39. The 
approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The amendment also requires a 
single impairment method to be used, thus replacing the different methods in IAS 39. The 
amendment of IFRS 9 also addresses the problem of volatility in profit or loss arising from an 
issuer choosing to measure its own debt at fair value. The amended IFRS 9 maintains the 
existing amortized cost measurement for most liabilities. According to the new requirements an 
entity choosing to measure a liability at fair value present the portion of the change in its fair 
value due to changes in the entity`s own credit risk in the other comprehensive income section 
of the income statement, rather than within profit (loss) statement. The adoption of IFRS 9 will 
have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group 
will quantify the effect to present a comprehensive picture (effective from 1 January 2015). 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements is a new standard published at 12 May, 2011. The 
standard will replace the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities by introducing a single 
consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective of the nature of the investee 
(i.e., whether an entity is controlled through voting rights of investors or through other 
contractual arrangements as is common in special purpose entities). Under IFRS 10, control will 
be based on whether an investor has: 1) power over the investee; 2) exposure, or rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 3) the ability to use its power over 
the investee to affect the amount of the returns. The standard sets out requirements for 
situations when control is difficult to assess, including cases involving potential voting rights, 
agency relationships, control of specified assets and circumstances in which the voting rights are 
not the dominant factor in determining control (effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements  
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements is a new standard published at 12 May, 2011. The standard 
introduces new accounting requirements for joint arrangements, replacing IAS 31 Interests in 
Joint Ventures. The option to apply the proportional consolidation method when accounting for 
jointly controlled entities is removed. Additionally, IFRS 11 eliminates jointly controlled assets to 
now only differentiate between joint operations and joint ventures. A joint operation is a joint 
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control have rights to the net assets (effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities is a new standard published at 12 May 2011. 
The standard requires enhanced disclosures about both consolidated entities and unconsolidated 
entities in which an entity has involvement. The objective of IFRS 12 is to require information so 
that financial statement users may evaluate the basis of control, any restrictions on consolidated 
assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising from involvements with unconsolidated structured 
entities and non-controlling interest holders' involvement in the activities of consolidated 
entities (effective from 1 January 2013). 



IG Seismic Services Limited 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  
 

(in thousands of US dollars) 
 
 

21 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS a framework for 
measuring fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard 
applies when other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements. It does not introduce any 
new requirements to measure an asset or a liability at fair value, change what is measured at fair 
value in IFRSs or address how to present changes in fair value. The adoption of the IFRS 13 may 
have effect on the measurement of the Group’s assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value 
(effective from 1 January 2013). 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has an interest 
of more than one half of the voting rights, or otherwise the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. Assets, liabilities and financial 
performance of these entities are included in the consolidated balance sheet, statement of 
income, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in equity. 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods 
provided or services rendered less any trade discounts, value-added tax and similar sales-based 
taxes after eliminating sales within the Group.  
 
Revenue is recognized as follows: 

• Revenue arising from production activity is recognized on the date of delivery of goods and 
the transfer of title thereto.  

• Interest income is accrued on a regular basis by reference to the outstanding principal 
amount and the applicable effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that 
asset's net carrying amount.  

• Dividend income is recognized where the shareholder's right to receive a dividend payment 
is established. 

• Revenue under long-term contracts is recognized in accordance with IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts as described below.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Construction type contracts 
 
The Group principally operates fixed price contracts. If the outcome of such a contract can be 
reliably measured, revenue associated with the construction contract is recognized by reference 
to the stage of completion of the contract activity at year end (the percentage of completion 
method). 
 
The outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) the total contract 
revenue can be measured reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the contract will flow to the entity; (iii) the costs to complete the contract and the stage of 
completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the contract costs attributable to the contract can 
be clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract costs incurred can be 
compared with prior estimates. When the outcome of a construction cannot be estimated 
reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to 
be recoverable. 
 
In applying the percentage of completion method, revenue recognized corresponds to the total 
contract revenue (as defined below) multiplied by the actual completion rate based on the 
proportion of total contract costs (as defined below) incurred to date and the estimated costs to 
complete. 
 
Contract revenue – Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the 
contract and any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it 
is probable that they will result in revenue, and they are capable of being reliably measured. 
 
Contract costs – Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and 
costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract. 
Costs that relate directly to a specific contract comprise: site labor costs (including site 
supervision); costs of materials used in construction; depreciation of equipment used on the 
contract; costs of design, and technical assistance that is directly related to the contract. 
 
The Group’s contracts are typically negotiated for the construction of a single asset or a group 
of assets which are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology 
and function. In certain circumstances, the percentage of completion method is applied to the 
separately identifiable components of a single contract or to a group of contracts together in 
order to reflect the substance of a contract or a group of contracts. 
 
Assets covered by a single contract are treated separately when: 

• The separate proposals have been submitted for each asset 

• Each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and customer have 
been able to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each asset 

• The costs and revenues of each asset can be identified 
 
A group of contracts are treated as a single construction contract when: 

• The group of contracts is negotiated as a single package; the contracts are so closely 
interrelated that they are, in effect, part of a single project with an overall profit margin 

• The contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency, which is 
Russian Ruble for the subsidiary companies at exchange rates ruling at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. Foreign currency differences arising in translation are recognized in the statement 
of comprehensive income. 
 
Property, plant and equipment  
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The initial cost of the asset includes the purchase price 
or expenditures incurred that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. The 
purchase price is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given 
to acquire the asset. Major replacements of property, plant and equipment are capitalized. All 
other repair and maintenance costs are charged to the profit and loss component of the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives, as follows: 
 

Buildings and structures 30-40 years 
Machinery and equipment 5-25 years 
Vehicles 3-8 years 
Other 2-10 years 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
Classification of lease agreements  
 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership, otherwise it is classified as an operating lease. Whether a lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease depends on the substance of the transaction rather than the 
form of the contract. If the lease term is for longer than 75% of the economic life of the asset, or 
that at the inception of the lease the present value of the minimum lease payments amount to at 
least 90% of the fair value of the leased asset, the lease is classified by the Group as finance 
lease, unless it is clearly demonstrated otherwise. Upon expiry of the finance lease, the leased 
assets are reclassified to own assets at residual value according to their remaining useful lives.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Intangible assets  
 
Business combinations and goodwill 
 
Business combinations from 1 January 2009 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at 
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For 
each business combination, the acquirer measures the noncontrolling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 
through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which 
is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit 
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Intangible assets (continued)  
 
Business combinations prior to 1 January 2009 
 
In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements, the following differences applied: 
 
Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling 
interest (formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Any additional 
acquired share of interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill. 
 
When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by 
the acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a 
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise 
would have been required under the contract. 
 
Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 
economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. 
Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill. 
 
Non-controlling interest 
 
Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately 
within the Group’s equity and consist of the amount of those interests at the date of obtaining 
control plus their share of changes in equity since that date. They are valued proportionally to 
the non-controlling share in the underlying net assets of the acquired company. Losses within a 
subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. 
Changes in the Parent’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. 
 
Other intangible assets 
 
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected 
useful lives. The useful lives of the Group’s intangible assets are as follows: 
 

Trademarks 10-18 years 
Software 5-10 years 
Other 3-10 years 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Amortization 
 
Amortization is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that 
they are available for use.  
 
Investments in associates 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence 
through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but which is 
not a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity. 
 
The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of financial 
position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. 
Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not 
amortized, and is not subject to separate test for impairment. The share of the financial results 
of the associates is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. Where there has 
been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its share 
of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. 
Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate 
are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate. 
 
The share of profit of associates is shown directly in the statement of comprehensive income. 
This is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax 
and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associates. 
 
The financial statements of an associate are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent 
company. Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies into line with 
those of the Group. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is 
based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost 
includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 
 
Where payment for inventories is deferred and such an arrangement actually contains elements 
of financing, the difference between the purchase price which is normally paid on trade credit 
terms and the consideration paid is recognized as interest expense over the term of the credit 
and is charged to the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Value-added tax 
 
The Russian tax legislation permits settlement of value added tax ("VAT") on a net basis. VAT is 
payable to the state budget upon invoicing and delivery of goods, performing work or rendering 
services, as well as upon collection of prepayments from customers. VAT on purchases, even not 
settled at the reporting date, is deducted from the amount of VAT payable. 
 
Where provision has been made for impairment of receivables, impairment loss is recorded for 
the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT. VAT recoverable arises when VAT input related 
to purchases exceeds VAT output related to sales. 
 
Trade receivables  
 
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, net of any provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment is established when there is objective evidence that Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
 
The period of delays in payment and debtor's credibility are major factors in testing of the trade 
receivables for impairment. In practice, the following sources of evidence of impairment may be 
considered: (a) delay in payment, which occurred not due to any failures in the payment system; 
(b) financial difficulties of the borrower; (c) expected significant restructuring of the borrower; 
(d) negative changes in the debtor's solvency as a result of impact of external economic factors. 
The amount of the provision is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash represents cash in hand and in the Group’s bank accounts and interest bearing deposits, 
which can be effectively withdrawn at any time without prior notice or penalties reducing the 
principal amount of the deposit. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months 
or less from their date of purchase. They are carried at cost plus accrued interest, which 
approximates fair value. 
 
Impairment 
 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the assets.   
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Impairment (continued)  
 
The determination of impairment of property, plant and equipment involves the use of estimates 
that include, but are not limited to, the cause, timing and amount of the impairment. 
 
Impairment is based on a large number of factors, such as changes in current competitive 
conditions, expectations of growth in the industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the 
future availability of financing, technological obsolescence, discontinuance of service, current 
replacement costs and other changes in circumstances that indicate that impairment exists. The 
determination of the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit involves the use of estimates 
by the management. Methods used to determine the value in use include discounted cash flow-
based methods, which require the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. These estimates, including the methodologies used, may 
have a material impact on the fair value and ultimately the amount of impairment of property, 
plant and equipment.  
 
Impairment of intangible assets 
 
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that they may be impaired. If impairment is established, the value of the asset is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment annually.  
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an 
incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of 
impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where 
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, 
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
Impairment of Investments in associates 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognize an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associates. At each 
reporting date, the Group determines whether there is any objective evidence that the 
investments in associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of an associate and its carrying 
value and recognizes the amount in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Impairment (continued)  
 
Reversal of impairment 
 
An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity investment, loan or receivable is reversed if 
the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognized.  
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 
 
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed where there is an indication that the 
impairment may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. 
 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  
 
Share capital  
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received 
over the par value of shares issued is recognized also as share premium. 
 
Dividends 
 
Dividends are not recognized as a liability or deducted from equity as at the reporting date 
unless they have been declared / approved by the shareholders on or before the reporting date. 
Dividends are disclosed in financial statements if they have been declared after the reporting 
date, but before the date when the financial statements are authorized for issue.  
 
Loans and borrowings 
 
Loans and borrowings, including promissory notes, are initially recognized at fair value of the 
consideration received (which is determined based on the market interest rates of similar 
instruments when they are significantly different from the interest rate of the given loan or 
borrowing), net of transaction costs incurred. The fair value is determined on the basis of the 
market interest rates for comparable financial instruments. In subsequent periods, loans, 
borrowings and promisory notes, are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method; any difference between the fair value of the consideration received (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income as interest expense over the period of the loan, borrowing or promisory note.  
 
Interest expense related to loans, borrowings and promisory notes is recognized as an expense 
when incurred. 
 
Expenses related to borrowing 
 
The Group applies IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised) and amendments related to the borrowing 
costs incurred on qualified assets, capitalized on or after 1 January 2009. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, 
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of income 
net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as finance costs. 
 
Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are recognized at fair value and are stated at amortized cost after the 
initial recognition. 
 
Income tax  
 
Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the 
statement of income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognized in equity. Parent company is Cyprus resident whereas all subsidiaries 
are registered in Russia and Kazakhstan. 
 
Current tax  
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are 
not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
acquired not as part of a business combination and that at the time of initial recognition affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit; and investments in subsidiaries where theParent Company 
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Offsetting  
 
Assets and liabilities are only offset and reported at the net amount in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. 
 
Warranties 
 
Under certain construction contracts the Group is obliged to rectify construction defects 
identified by a customer subsequent to construction acceptance. Such warranty generally 
extends for a maximum period of one year from the date of construction acceptance certificate. 
No settlement of contract value is retained by the customer until the warranty period expires.  
 
Based on an analysis of the completed contracts where the warranty period has not yet expired 
management concludes whether the outflow of resources in connection with warranty 
obligations is probable and records appropriate provisions. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts 
 
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to 
be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognized initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured 
at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at 
the reporting date and the amount recognized less cumulative amortization. 
 
Derecognition of financial liability 
 
A financial liability is derecognized in the statement of financial position when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Exchange of non-monetary assets 
 
Non-monetary transactions are recognized at the fair value of assets received or receivable. 
When the fair value of assets received or receivable cannot be measured reliably, the fair value 
of assets received is determined based on the fair value of assets given up or to be given up. 
Non-monetary transactions have been excluded from cash flows from operating, investing and 
financing activities in the accompanying statement of cash flows. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Government grants  
 
A government grant is recognized in the statement of financial position initially as deferred 
income when there is reasonable assurance that it will be received and that the company will 
comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants that compensate the company for expenses 
incurred are recognized as other operating income on a systematic basis in the same periods in 
which the expenses are incurred. Government grants, which are disclosed in note 27, include 
grants for research and development. 
 
Leases 
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset even 
if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.  
 
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the commencement date at the fair value of the 
leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments determined at 
the date of inception of the lease.  
 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are reflected in the consolidated statement of income.  
 
Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the 
asset and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of income 
on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Social expenditures 
 
To the extent that the Group’s contributions to social programs benefit the community at large 
and are not restricted to the Group’s employees, they are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income as incurred. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
In the normal course of business the Group contributes to the Russian Federation state pension 
scheme on behalf of its employees. Mandatory contributions to the governmental pension 
scheme are expensed when incurred. Discretionary pensions and other post-employment 
benefits are included in labor costs in the statement of comprehensive income, however, 
separate disclosures are not provided as these costs are not material. There are no other 
pension plans. 
 
The Group contributes to the Russian Federation state social insurance, medical insurance and 
unemployment funds on behalf of its employees. The Company's contributions to social funds 
and pension scheme amount to approximately 15% of the employees' salaries and are expensed 
as incurred.   
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Financial income and expenses 
 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, changes in the 
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and foreign currency gains.  
 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the statement of comprehensive income, using the 
effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in the statement of income on the date 
that the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings, unwinding of the discount 
on provisions, dividends on preference shares classified as liabilities, foreign currency losses, 
changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment 
losses recognized on financial assets. All borrowing costs are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income using the effective interest method. 
 
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
 
Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 
intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses 
are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 
 
 
4. Business combinations  
 
On 9 November 2011 Integra Group, Schlumberger Oilfield Holdings Limited (“Schlumberger”), 
Geotech Oil Services Holding Limited (“GOSH”) and IG Seismic Services Limited (“IGSS”) have 
entered into a conditional agreement to combine IGSS, previously a joint venture of Integra 
Group and Schlumberger, with Geotech Holding JSC (“Geotech Holding”), representing GOSH’s 
seismic business. 
 
On 30 December 2011 Integra Group, Schlumberger, GOSH and IGSS have completed the above 
transaction. The combination was effected through the transfer by GOSH of total outstanding 
shares of the issued share capital of Geotech Holding JSC to IGSS in exchange for newly issued 
shares in IGSS. Following completion of the Transaction, Integra Group holds 36%, Schlumberger 
holds 12%, and GOSH holds 52% of the entire enlarged issued share capital of IGSS. The 
Transaction was approved by Integra Group shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting 
held on 5 December 2011 and received required anti-monopoly approvals on 30 December 
2011. 
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4. Business combinations (continued)  
 
This transaction was accounted for as a reverse acquisition of IGSS by Geotech Holding JSC and 
as such, these financial statements are presented as a continuation of Geotech Holding JSC with 
one adjustment, which is to adjust retrospectively the Geotech Holding JSC share capital to 
reflect the legal capital of IGSS. As a result these consolidated financial statements reflect the 
assets and liabilities of Geotech Holding JSC measured at the pre-combination carrying values, 
the assets and liabilities of IGSS accounted for at fair values as of 30 December 2011 based on 
the acquisition method, retained earnings and other equity items of Geotech Holding JSC before 
the business combination. The amount recognized as issued equity interests in consolidated 
financial statements is determined by adding the issued capital of Geotech Holding JSC before 
the business combination to the fair value of consideration effectively transferred. Comparative 
information presented in these financial statements is therefore that of Geotech Holding JSC, 
the legal subsidiary, as adjusted to reflect the legal capital of IGSS. 
 
The fair value of the non-controlling interest in IG Seismic Services Limited has been estimated 
by applying a discounted cash flows approach. IG Seismic Services Limited is an unlisted 
company and, as such, no market information is available. The fair value estimate is based on: 
  An assumed discount rate of 15%; and 
  A terminal value, calculated based on long-term sustainable growth rates for the industry 

ranging from two to five per cent, which has been used to determine cash flows for the 
future years. 

 
a)  Consideration transferred 
 
In accordance with IFRS3.B20, the consideration transferred by Geotech Holding JSC to the 
Group is based on the number of shares Geotech Holding JSC would have had to issue to give 
the shareholders of the Group the same percentage equity interest in the combined entity that 
results from the reverse acquisition, i.e. 48% equity interest. 
 
Share capital of IGSS before business combination 10,000,000 48.0% 
Shares issued to all Geotech shareholders 10,833,400 52.0% 

 20,833,400  
 
Number of shares in Geotech 100 52.0% 
Hypothetical shares to be issued to reflect the same percentage as above 92 48.0% 
Hypothetical share price of Geotech based on valuation* 2,729  
Value of shares to be issued to reflect the same percentage as above 251,070  
 

*  The Company engaged independent appraisal to account for the business acquisition under requirements of IFRS3. 
The valuation was conducted based on discounted cash flows approach under 15% WACC and long-term 
sustainable growth rates for the industry ranging from two to five per cent. 
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4. Business combinations (continued)  
 
b)  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
 

 
Recognized fair 

values on acquisition 
Non-current assets 226,377 
Property, plant and equipment 210,470 
Intangible assets 7,485 
Investments in associates 5,420 
Deferred tax assets 1,946 
Other non-current assets 1,056 
  Current assets 119,087 
Inventories 23,250 
Accounts receivable 85,133 
 VAT receivable 2,670 
Tax prepayments 2,738 
Other current assets 286 
Cash and cash equivalents 5,010 
  Non-current liabilities (18,434) 
Deferred tax liabilities (17,562) 
Other non-current liabilties (872) 
  Current liabilities (83,139) 
Short-term loans and borrowings (31,415) 
Accounts payable (37,552) 
Income tax payable (255) 
Other taxes payable (13,917) 
Net identifiable net assets at fair value 243,891 
 
Gross contractual amount of receivables acquired approximates their fair value. 
 
c)  Goodwill 
 
Net identifiable net assets at fair value (243,891) 
Non-controlling interest measured at fair value 27,427 
 (216,464) 
Total consideration transferred 251,070 
Goodwill 34,606 
 
The goodwill of 34,606 comprises the value of expected synergies arising from the business 
combination and is allocated entirely to the seismic segment. None of the goodwill recognised is 
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
 
d)  Analysis of cash flows on acquisition 
 
Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from operating activities) (641) 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary (included in cash flows from investing 

activities) 5,010 
Net cash inflow on acquisition 4,369 
 
If the Group had acquired IGSS at the beginning of the year, the total revenue and results of the 
Group would have been 614,823 and (76,838), respectively. 
 
Transaction costs of 4,854 have been expensed and are included in administrative expenses. 
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5. Segment information 
 
For management purposes, the Company is organized into business units based on their 
products and services, and has one reportable operating segment which is Seismic segment 
conducting seismic works with the purpose of search and exploration of oil and gas fields, 
comprising oilfield seismic works in two or three dimensions, field seismic works in a land-sea 
transit zone, processing of seismic and geophysical data, structural interpretation of results of 
processing, dynamic processing and interpretation of results of processing. 
 
Management monitors the operating results of its business segment under calendar year 
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance 
assessment on the basis of figures, prepared in accordance with IFRS. Operating results 
estimated based on net profit or losses and EBITDA. EBITDA is defined as operating profit from 
continuing operations before depreciation and amortization excluding any non-recurring 
transactions included within operating profit from continuing operations. 
 
Information on transactions of the holding and managerial companies which conduct managerial 
services and financial and investment activities was included into the Corporate block, that is not 
separate operating segment. 
 
Transfer prices between Geophisical works and Corporate block are on an arm’s length basis in a 
manner similar to transactions with third parties. Internal revenues and expenses primarilty 
pertains to management services rendered by Corporate block to Seismic segment. 
 
In the periods presented below, the Group operated in the Russian Federation. 
 
Operating segment for the year ended 31 December 2011 presented as follows: 
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate  

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total  
     Revenue external 363,745 884 – 364,629 
Revenue internal – 23,327 (23,327) – 
Cost of sales (287,221) (35) – (287,256) 
Internal expenses (23,327) – 23,327 – 
Gross profit/(loss) 76,524 849 – 77,373 
     General and administrative expenses (32,815) (17,964) – (50,779) 
Net other operating income (11,816) 5,711 – (6,105) 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 31,893 (11,404) – 20,489 
     
Net finance expense (28,910) (20,101) – (49,011) 
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) (674) (1,163) – (1,837) 
Share of results of associates, net of 

income tax – (4,735) – (4,735) 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 2,309 (37,403) – (35,094) 
     Income tax benefit/(expense) (8,170) (381) – (8,551) 
Net income/(loss) (5,861) (37,784) – (43,645) 
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5. Segment information (continued) 
 
Calculation of the EBITDA from operating profit/(loss)  
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate 

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total 

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 31,893 (11,404) – 20,489 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 34,451 954 – 35,405 
Amortization of intangible assets 434 35 – 469 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current 

assets 19,819 (4,267) – 15,552 
Transaction related expenses – 4,854 – 4,854 
Redundancy expenses attributable to 

transaction 726 – – 726 
Distribution of Corporate overheads (10,303) 10,303 – – 
Elimination of Corporate overheads 

pertaining to discontinued operations – 1,818 – 1,818 

EBITDA 77,020 2,293 – 79,313 
 
Operating segment for the year ended 31 December 2010 presented as follows: 
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate  

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total  
     Revenue external 343,238 294 – 343,532 
Revenue internal (54) 29,047 (28,993) – 
Cost of sales (242,583) (526) – (243,109) 
Internal expenses (28,992) (1) 28,993 – 
Gross profit/(loss) 100,655 (232) – 100,423 
     General and administrative expenses (30,791) (13,071) – (43,862) 
Net other operating income (5,734) 2,501 – (3,233) 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 64,130 (10,802) – 53,328 
     
Net finance expense (28,567) (1,307) – (29,874) 
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 81 (93) – (12) 
Share of results of associates, net of 

income tax – (7,939) – (7,939) 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 35,644 (20,141) – 15,503 
     Income tax benefit/(expense) (3,388) 3,505 – 117 
Net income/(loss) 32,256 (16,636) – 15,620 
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5. Segment information (continued)  
 
Calculation of the EBITDA from operating profit/(loss)  
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate  

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total  
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 64,130 (10,802) – 53,328 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 31,106 738 – 31,844 
Amortization of intangible assets 217 4 – 221 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current 

assets 6,559 (3,698) – 2,861 
Distribution of overhead costs of a 

corporate segment (11,627) 11,627 – – 
Elimination of Corporate overheads 

pertaining to discontinued operations – 1,334 – 1,334 

EBITDA 90,385 (797) – 89,588 
 
Operating segment for the year ended 31 December 2009 presented as follows: 
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate  

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total  
     Revenue external 291,094 2,853 – 293,947 
Revenue internal 941 21,483 (22,424) – 
Cost of sales (200,567) (11) – (200,578) 
Internal expenses (22,423) (1) 22,424 – 
Gross profit/(loss) 90,527 2,842 – 93,369 
     General and administrative expenses (22,098) (14,018) – (36,116) 
Net other operating income (11,290) (2,935) – (14,225) 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 57,139 (14,111) – 43,028 
      
Net finance expense (15,462) (11,769) – (27,231) 
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) (44) (1,673) – (1,717) 
Share of results of associates, net of 

income tax – 605 – 605 
Profit/(loss) from operating activities 41,633 (26,948) – 14,685 
     Income tax benefit/(expense) (7,965) (429) – (8,394) 
Net income/(loss) 33,668 (27,377) – 6,291 
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5. Segment information (continued)  
 
Calculation of the EBITDA from operating profit/(loss)  
 

 
Geophysical 

works 
Corporate  

block 

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations Total 

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 57,139 (14,111) – 43,028 
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 26,643 209 – 26,852 
Amortization of intangible assets 301 15 – 316 
Loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current 

assets 6,065 23 – 6,088 
Distribution of overhead costs of a 

corporate segment (11,441) 11,441 – – 
Elimination of Corporate overheads 

pertaining to discontinued operations – 2,365 – 2,365 

EBITDA 78,707 (58) – 78,649 
 
 
6. Goodwill  
 
The table below presents movement in the carrying amount of goodwill: 

 
Carrying 
amount 

As at 1 January 2009 83,720 
Translation difference (2,391) 

As at 31 December 2009  81,329 

Translation difference (621) 

As at 31 December 2010  80,708 

Disposed with discontinued operations (9,470) 
Goodwill recognized in business combination 34,606 
Translation difference (3,097) 

As at 31 December 2011  102,747 
 
For impairment testing purposes, goodwill acquired as a result of the business combination was 
split into two separate cash-generating units:  
• Cash-generating unit – Drilling and prospecting (discontinued operations) 
• Cash-generating unit – Seismic works 
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6. Goodwill (continued)  
 
As at 31 December 2011, 2010, 2009 and 1 January 2009, the carrying amount of goodwill as 
split between the two cash-generating units is shown in the table below: 
 

 

As at 
31 December 

2011 

As at 
31 December 

2010 

As at 
31 December 

2009 

As at  
1 January 

2009 

Seismic works  102,747 71,985 72,539 74,671 
Drilling and prospecting (discontinued 

operations) – 8,723 8,790 9,049 

Total 102,747 80,708 81,329 83,720 
 
Recoverable amounts of the units have been determined by calculating value-in-use using cash-
flow projections up to 2020. A pre-tax discount rate of 15.00% (2010: 12.39%; 2009: 17.79%) 
derived from the weighted average cost of capital has been applied to the projected cash-flows. 
Cash flows for 2012-2020 period have been derived using a 5.0%-3.0% of compound average 
growth ratio depending of the year (2010: 8.0%; 2009; 4.4% growth rates, which were 
consistent with the industry-specific long-term average growth rate in Russia). 
 
In calculating the value-in-use of the assets, the following assumptions have been regarded as 
most significant: marginal income, discount rates and the growth rate used to extrapolate cash 
flows beyond the planned period. 
 
Risks inherent in the oil service industry are directly related to economic conditions in the oil 
sector shaped by global oil prices. The key factors of risk include slumping oil prices, which cause 
oil companies to sharply cut their exploration costs and minor investors to quit the industry. In 
addition, these trends are exacerbated by deteriorating customer solvency leading to growth in 
receivables and a slower turnover or shortage of working capital and ultimately triggering 
growth in payables.  
 
As at 31 December 2011, the Group determined that the value-in-use of seismic assets exceeds 
the carrying amount of the unit and, therefore, no impairment on this unit was recognized. 
 
With regard to the assessment of value in use cash-generating units, management believes that 
no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying 
value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
No impairment for drilling and seismic assets was recognized in 2010 and 2009. 
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7. Intangible assets other than goodwill 
 

 As of 31 December 
As of 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

Development costs 4,659 – – – 
Software 8,284 382 841 851 
Other 140 54 17 18 
Total cost 13,083 436 858 869 
Less: accumulated depreciation (321) (240) (556) (348) 

Total net book value 12,762 196 302 521 
 
Majority of the intangibles as at 31 December 2011 were acquired through business 
combination (Note 4). 
 
 
8. Discontinued operations 
 
In August 2011, the Group completed the sale of its 100 per cent interest in subsidiaries 
CJSC Intaneft, CJSC Agan-Burenie and CJSC Geotech-Vostochnaya Burovaya Kompaniya which 
performed drilling and workover services for the cash consideration of 18,353.  
 
Results of the discontinued operations and loss on disposal were as follows: 
 

 

For the period 
until the 

disposal in 
2011 

For the year 
ended 

31 December 
2010 

For the year 
ended 

31 December 
2009 

Revenue 25,987 39,381 60,160 
Expenses (29,527) (45,299) (44,646) 
Operating profit (3,540) (5,918) 15,514 
Finance costs (2,462) (4,165) (4,334) 
(Loss)/profit before tax from a discontinued 

operation (6,002) (10,083) 11,180 

Loss on disposal of discontinued operation (4,533) – – 
 (10,535) (10,083) 11,180 
Tax income:    
Related to current pre-tax profit/(loss) 2,165 5,682 (4,015) 

(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations (8,370) (4,401) 7,165 
 
The net cash flows incurred by discontinued operations were as follows: 
 

 

For the period 
until the 

disposal in 
2011 

For the year 
ended 

31 December 
2010 

For the year 
ended 

31 December 
2009 

Operating activities (15,068) (7,871) 16,226 
Investing activities (1,516) (633) (2,273) 
Financing activities 6,132 4,878 1,758 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents (10,452) (3,626) 15,711 
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8. Discontinued operations (continued) 
 
The assets and liabilities of discontinued operations were as follows: 
 

 
At the date of 

disposal 
At 31 December 

2010 
At 31 December 

2009 
At 1 January 

2009 
     
Property, plant and equipment 65,278 63,984 68,374 71,704 
Goodwill and intangible assets 9,486 8,737 8,813 9,066 
Inventories 12,009 9,390 10,170 8,577 
Trade and other receivables 29,443 25,044 20,980 33,519 
Cash and cash equivalents 160 386 1,708 717 
Total assets 116,376 107,541 110,045 123,583 
      
Loans, borrowings and leases 35,868 44,496 25,227 24,437 
Deferred tax liability 1,840 2,876 5,546 3,872 
Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 55,782 32,125 39,681 58,746 
Total liabilities 93,490 79,497 70,454 87,055 

Net assets 22,886 28,044 39,591 36,528 
 
 
9. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2011 comprised the following: 
 

 

Buildings  
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment Vehicles Other 
Construction 
in progress Total 

Balance as at 31 December 2010  97,836 287,226 59,174 14,776 408 459,420 
Acquisition through business 

combination 46,338 121,713 40,670 1,749 – 210,470 
Additions 1,669 19,570 6,749 1,848 39 29,875 
Disposals (10,183) (14,115) (7,480) (588) (11) (32,377) 
Disposed with discontinued 

operations (5,771) (70,081) (3,412) (10,881) – (90,145) 
Translation difference (5,113) (9,042) (2,710) 493 11 (16,361) 
Balance as at 31 December 2011 124,776 335,271 92,991 7,397 447 560,882 
        
Depreciation       
Balance as at 31 December 2010 (14,342) (55,718) (22,979) (3,499) – (96,538) 
Depreciation charge (4,981) (25,393) (7,939) (1,720) – (40,033) 
Disposals 2,765 5,284 2,232 195 – 10,476 
Disposed with discontinued 

operations 1,427 18,286 2,292 2,862 – 24,867 
Translation difference 776 2,228 1,438 (47) – 4,395 
Balance as at 31 December 2011 (14,355) (55,313) (24,956) (2,209) – (96,833) 
       
Net book value       
Balance as at 31 December 2010 83,494 231,508 36,195 11,277 408 362,882 

Balance as at 31 December 2011 110,421 279,958 68,035 5,188 447 464,049 
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2010 comprised the following: 
 

 

Buildings  
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment Vehicles Other 
Construction 
in progress Total 

Cost       
Balance as at 31 December 2009  96,595 229,256 49,477 12,455 1,879 389,662 
Additions 2,599 65,973 11,263 3,414 193 83,442 
Transfers 368 882 181 627 (1,512) 546 
Disposals (982) (7,433) (1,311) (1,617) (340) (11,683) 
Translation difference (744) (1,452) (436) (103) 188 (2,547) 
Balance as at 31 December 2010 97,836 287,226 59,174 14,776 408 459,420 
        
Depreciation       
Balance as at 31 December 2009 (9,612) (35,485) (16,933) (2,553) – (64,583) 
Depreciation charge (4,868) (21,584) (9,242) (2,458) – (38,152) 
Disposals 47 1,027 2,972 1,489 – 5,535 
Translation difference 91 324 224 23 – 662 
Balance as at 31 December 2010 (14,342) (55,718) (22,979) (3,499) – (96,538) 
       
Net book value       
Balance as at 31 December 2009 86,983 193,771 32,544 9,902 1,879 325,079 

Balance as at 31 December 2010 83,494 231,508 36,195 11,277 408 362,882 

 
As at 31 December 2009, property, plant and equipment comprised the following: 
 

 

Buildings  
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment Vehicles Other 
Construction 
in progress Total 

Cost       
Balance as at 1 January 2009 99,653 218,770 54,539 13,358 4,703 391,023 
Additions 1,897 20,216 1,842 2,453 547 26,955 
Transfers 296 (293) 33 285 (321) – 
Disposals (2,518) (1,903) (4,615) (3,236) (2,791) (15,063) 
Translation difference (2,733) (7,534) (2,322) (405) (259) (13,253) 
Balance as at 31 December 2009 96,595 229,256 49,477 12,455 1,879 389,662 
        
Depreciation       
Balance as at 1 January 2009 (4,880) (20,581) (10,307) (3,710) – (39,478) 
Depreciation charge (4,762) (16,722) (9,381) (1,540) – (32,405) 
Disposals 117 1,902 2,784 2,542 – 7,345 
Translation difference (87) (84) (29) 155 – (45) 
Balance as at 31 December 2009 (9,612) (35,485) (16,933) (2,553) – (64,583) 
       
Net book value       
As at 1 January 2009 94,773 198,189 44,232 9,648 4,703 351,545 

As at 31 December 2009 86,983 193,771 32,544 9,902 1,879 325,079 

 
Property, plant and equipment of the acquired subsidiaries were initially recognized at fair value 
determined by an independent appraiser. Fair value was determined by reference to market-
based evidence.  
 
The Group leases production equipment under a number of finance lease agreements. At the end 
of each of the leases the Group has the option to purchase the equipment at a beneficial price.  



IG Seismic Services Limited 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  
 

(in thousands of US dollars) 
 
 

44 

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
The following is the analysis of the property, plant and equipment under finance leases 
recognized in Property, plant and equipment: 
 

 As of 31 December 
As of 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

Buildings and structures 1,475 286 73 75 
Machinery and equipment 26,248 27,402 4,692 12,942 
Vehicles 11,743 9,145 373 3,110 
Other 1,324 1,390 – – 
Total cost 40,790 38,223 5,138 16,127 
Less: accumulated depreciation (5,621) (2,000) (698) (3,624) 

Total net book value of leased property 35,169 36,223 4,440 12,503 
 
Collateral 
 
Properties with a carrying amount of 37,873 are subject to a registered debenture to secure 
bank loans (2010: 40,286; 2009: 78,434, 1 January 2009: 105,107) (Note 30). 
 
 
10. Investments in associates 
 
The Group’s equity associates were as follows: 
 

 As at 31 December 
As at 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

OJSC Sibneftegeofizika 39.5% 39.5% 39.5% 39.5% 
OJSC Stavropolneftegasgeofizika 25.4% – – – 
 
As a result of a business combination, in December 2011 the Group acquired 25.4% ownership 
interest in OJSC Stavropolneftegasgeofizika, which was accounted for as acquisition of 
associate at the fair value determined at the date of business combination amounted to 5,420 
(Note 4). 
 
Movements in the carrying value of the Group’s investments in associate are summarized in the 
table below: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 21,861 30,316 31,006 
Share in (loss)/profit, net of income tax (4,735) (7,939) 605 
Acquired in a business combination 5,420 – – 
Translation difference (972) (516) (1,295) 
Carrying amount at the end of the period 21,574 21,861 30,316 
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10. Investments in associates (continued) 
 
Summarized statement of financial position of OJSC Sibneftegeofizika 
 

 As at 31 December 
As at 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

Non-current assets 60,602 60,844 52,679 55,461 
Current assets 42,831 32,538 25,640 30,765 

Total assets 103,433 93,382 78,319 86,226 
     
Non-current liabilities (21,901) (13,860) (7,742) (7,965) 
Current liabilities (65,928) (59,338) (36,507) (43,535) 

Total liabilities (87,829) (73,198) (44,249) (51,500) 
 
Summarized statement of comprehensive income of OJSC Sibneftegeofizika 
 

 2011 2010 2009 

Total revenues 52,872 45,432 73,885 
Total operating expenses (63,040) (64,341) (69,686) 
Operational (loss)/profit (10,168) (18,909) 4,199 
Interest expense, net (5,093) (3,131) (935) 
Income tax benefit/(expense) 3,274 1,941 (1,732) 

(Loss)/profit for the period (11,987) (20,099) 1,532 
 
Summarized statement of financial position of OJSC Stavropolneftegeofisika 
 

 

As at 
31 December 

2011 
Non-current assets 7,994 
Current assets 5,241 

Total assets 13,235 
  
Non-current liabilities (2,794) 
Current liabilities (2,869) 

Total liabilities (5,663) 
 
Summarized statement of comprehensive income of OJSC Stavropolneftegeofisika 
 

 2011 

Total revenues 14,459 
Total operating expenses (14,140) 
Operational profit 319 
Interest expense, net (286) 
Income tax expense (9) 

Profit for the period 24 
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11. Assets held for sale and other non-current assets 
 
Assets held for sale in the amount of 5,106 at 1 January 2009 included 49% of the share capital 
of SNG Capital Limited in the amount of 4,527 sold in January 2009 and an administrative 
building of 579 not used by the Group sold in January 2009. Financial result from the sale of 
non-current assets is included in other operating expense and shown in Note 27. 
 
At 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, other non-current assets consisted of advances 
for equipment issued to third parties in the amount of 3,193 and 1,936 respectively. At 
31 December 2009, other non-current assets comprise advances for equipment issued to third 
parties and related parties in the amount of 600 and 0, respectively (1 January 2009: 2,866 
and 227, respectively).    
 
 
12. Income tax  
 
Income tax (benefit)/expense for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 

Current income tax expense 10,596 3,346 9,570 
Deferred income tax (benefit) (2,045) (3,463) (1,176) 

Total income tax (benefit)/expense 8,551 (117) 8,394 
 
Reconciliation of effective tax rate is presented below: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 

(Loss)/profit before tax (35,094) 15,503 14,685 

Income tax at the tax rate of Russian subsidiaries (20%) 7,019 (3,101) (2,937) 
Non-taxable gain from disposal of non-current assets (594) – 1,787 
Utilized accumulated loss for the prior years 731 5,398 2,655 
Deferred tax assets on tax loss not recognized (1,935) (1,408) (1,457) 
Adjustments in respect to current income tax of previous 

years (5,647) (271) (2,420) 
Other non-deductible income and expenses (8,125) (501) (6,022) 

Income tax benefit/(expense) (8,551) 117 (8,394) 
 
In the context of the Group’s current structure, tax losses and current tax assets of the different 
subsidiaries may not be set off against current tax liabilities and taxable profits of other 
subsidiaries and, accordingly, taxes may accrue even where there is a net consolidated tax loss. 
Therefore, deferred tax asset of one company of the Group is not offset against deferred tax 
liability of another company. 
 
Due to tax losses sustained in the year, no tax liability arises on the Company. Under current 
Cyprus legislation, tax losses may be carried forward and may be offset against taxable income 
for indefinite period. Tax loss carry forward available for utilization for Russian subsidiaries 
expire in 2012-2021. 
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12. Income tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax relates to the following: 
 Consolidated statement of financial position 

 As at 31 December 
As at 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

Deferred tax assets     
Trade and other receivables 6,963 4,055 2,216 987 
Inventories 15,260 21,339 12,661 4,049 
Loans and borrowings 5,996 3,928 – 109 
Trade and other payables 2,228 1,789 1,194 4,911 
Finance lease liabilities 3,103 4,613 351 967 
Provisions 1,166 991 1,591 1,645 
Other items 2,201 845 131 972 
Property, plant and equipment (51,751) (44,684) (41,700) (43,239) 
Trade and other receivables (19,945) (17,777) (6,481) (3,512) 
Trade and other payables (887) (2,574) (1,152) (169) 
Other items (1,632) (278) (244) (355) 

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (37,298) (27,753) (31,433) (33,635) 
Reflected in the statement of financial 

position as follows:     
Deferred tax assets 10,164 6,613 2,335 1,661 
Deferred tax liabilities (47,462) (34,366) (33,768) (35,296) 
 
 Consolidated income statement 
 2011 2010 2009 
Deferred tax assets    
Trade and other receivables 990 1,802 1,131 
Inventories 425 8,361 7,273 
Loans and borrowings 1,376 3,849 (100) 
Trade and other payables 946 583 (3,420) 
Finance lease liabilities (1,152) 4,177 (567) 
Provisions 104 (588) (50) 
Other items 30 700 (774) 

Deferred tax liabilities    

Property, plant and equipment 1,254 (2,924) 1,216 
Trade and other receivables (2,718) (11,070) (2,731) 
Trade and other payables 1,174 (1,394) (904) 
Other items (384) (33) 102 

Deferred tax expense/(income) 2,045 3,463 1,176 
 
The table below presents movement in the deferred tax positions: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 

Net deferred tax liability as at the beginning of the period (27,753) (31,433) (33,635) 
Deferred income tax benefit for the period 2,045 3,463 1,176 
Net deferred tax liability acquired on business 

combination (Note 4) (15,616) – – 
Disposed with discontinued operations (Note 8) 1,840 – – 
Translation difference (recognized in Other 

comprehensive income) 2,186 217 1,026 

Net deferred tax liability as at end of the period (37,298) (27,753) (31,433) 
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13. Inventories 
 
Inventories at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 
Raw materials, fuel and spare parts  

(net of provision for obsolescent and 
slow-moving items) 64,388 54,613 49,816 49,638 

Work-in-progress 612 6,579 3,215 2,308 
Finished goods and goods for resale 1,200 968 1,159 2,379 
Total 66,200 62,160 54,190 54,325 
 
The amount of inventories recognized in cost of sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 54,149, 
51,863 and 42,346 respectively. The amount of provision for inventory obsolescence was 130 
as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: 537; 31 December 2009: 390; 1 January 2009: 
315). 
 
 
14. Accounts receivable and prepayments 
 
Trade and other receivables as at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 
Financial receivables:     
Trade receivables (net of bad debt 
provision) (Note 30) 121,421 54,258 49,523 49,618 

Amounts due from customers for 
construction works 117,370 108,762 47,787 41,253 

Other receivables 13,667 6,729 13,471 4,502 

Non-financial receivables:     
Advances issued 14,494 17,603 22,834 14,880 

Total 266,952 187,352 133,615 110,253 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 12 months from the 
origination date. Receivables are presented net of provision for impairment of 6,479 as at 
31 December 2011, 5,083 as at 31 December 2010 and 4,453 as at 31 December 2009 
(1 January 2009: 5,161).  
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14. Accounts receivable and prepayments (continued) 
 
See below the movements in the provision for impairment of receivables and prepayments: 
 
At 1 January 2009 5,161 

Charge for the period 1,044 
Written off for the period (1,579) 
Translation difference (173) 

At 31 December 2009 4,453 

Charge for the period 2,600 
Written off for the period (1,934) 
Translation difference (36) 

At 31 December 2010 5,083 

Charge for the period 4,046 
Written off for the period (2,793) 
Translation difference 143 

At 31 December 2011 6,479 
 
 
15. Other financial assets 
 
Financial assets as at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

Loans and receivables 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 

Loans issued to related parties 4,635 18,904 9,527 4,388 
Loans issued to third parties 2,184 – 102 17 
Bank promissory notes (sold in April, 2010) – – 10,000 – 
Other financial assets 12 599 732 616 

 6,831 19,503 20,361 5,021 
 
Loans issued to third and related parties are unsecured and mature within one year and bear 
interest rate between 12% and 14%. 
 
 
16. Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 

Cash in hand 58 13 21 36 
Cash denominated in RUR 12,235 3,441 5,890 14,624 
Cash denominated in USD 282 13 22 225 
Cash denominated in EUR 4 1 1 – 
Cash denominated in other currencies 599 – – – 
Short-term deposits in RUR 9 5,709 6,175 – 

 13,187 9,177 12,109 14,885 
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17. Share capital 
 
As discussed in Note 4, these financial statements are presented as a continuation of Geotech 
Holding JSC with one adjustment, which is to adjust retrospectively Geotech Holding JSC share 
capital to reflect the legal capital of IGSS.  
  
As of 31 December 2009 the authorized share capital of IGSS was USD 10,000 divided into 
10,000 ordinary shares of USD 1 each. Issued capital was USD 3,000 divided into 3,000 
ordinary shares of USD 1 each. 
  
As of 31 December 2010 the authorized and issued share capital of IGSS was USD 100,000 
divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each 
  
On 30 December 2011 as a result of a business combination, IGSS issued additional 10,833,400 
ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each as a consideration for total outstanding shares of issued share 
capital of Geotech Holding JSC. As a result, as of 31 December 2011 the authorized and issued 
share capital was USD 208,334 divided into 20,833,400 ordinary shares of USD 0.01 each.  
  
The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group as of 31 December 2011, 2010, 2009 and 
1 January 2009 is Nikolay Levitsky. 
  
The following table summarizes the change in share capital for the years ended 31 December 
2011, 2010 and 2009 as follows: 
 

 
Number of 

shares, units Share capital Share premium 
Changes during 2009    
Subscription of Shares of IGSS 3,000 3 – 

Changes during 2010    
Shares split 1:100 300,000 3 – 
Ordinary shares issued and paid 9,700,000 97 223,903 

Changes during 2011    
Ordinary shares issued and paid 10,833,400 108 219,809 

Balance at 31 December 2011 20,833,400 208 443,712 
 
Share premium reserve is not available for distribution by way of dividends. 
 
Reverse acquisition reserve  
 
As of 31 December 2010, 2009 and 1 January 2009 reverse acquisition reserve comprises the 
difference between the issued share capital of IGSS and issued share capital of Geotech Holding 
JSC. As of 31 December 2011 reverse acquisition reserve represents the aggregate of fair value 
of consideration transferred in a business combination and issued share capital of Geotech 
Holding JSC immediately before the business combination less issued share capital of IGSS as of 
31 December 2011. 
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17. Share capital (continued)  
 
Other non-distributable reserves 
 
In March 2008 parent Company of Geotech Holding JSC, Geotech Oil Services Holding contributed 
cash to its wholly owned subsidiary in the amount of 94,979 which was recorded in Equity as 
other non-distributable reserves as of 1 January 2009. 
 
 
18. Loans and borrowings 
 
Long-term and short-term borrowings as at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 Security 
Effective 

interest rate  2011 
Current liabilities    
Short-term bank loans secured 9.5% - 12.5% 88,830 
Short-term borrowings unsecured 12% 5,074 
Current portion of long-term bank loans   53,574 
Short-term interest payable   408 
Total short-term loans and borrowings   147,886 
     Non-current liabilities    
Long-term bank loans secured 9.5% - 12.5% 204,313 
   204,313 

Total loans and borrowings   352,199 
 

 Security 
Effective 

interest rate  2010 
Current liabilities    
Short-term bank loans secured 9.5% - 13.5% 81,502 
Short-term borrowings unsecured 12% 982 
Short-term borrowings from related parties unsecured 12% 12,977 
Current portion of long-term bank loans   30,010 
Short-term interest payable   2,830 
Total short-term loans and borrowings   128,301 
     Non-current liabilities    
Long-term bank loans secured 9.5% - 16.0% 205,558 
Long-term borrowings   – 
   205,558 

Total loans and borrowings   333,859 

 Security 

 
Effective 

interest rate  2009 
Current liabilities    
Short-term bank loans secured 14% - 21.1% 152,967 
Short-term borrowings unsecured 15% - 18% 15,544 
Short-term borrowings from related parties unsecured 12% 11,375 
Current portion of long-term bank loans   10,973 
Short-term interest payable   733 
Total short-term loans and borrowings   191,592 
     Non-current liabilities    
Long-term bank loans   60,480 
Long-term borrowings   10 
   60,490 

Total loans and borrowings   252,082 
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18. Loans and borrowings (continued)  
 

 Security 
Effective 

interest rate  
1 January 

2009 
Current liabilities    
Short-term bank loans secured 14% - 21.1% 133,561 
Short-term borrowings unsecured 15% - 18% 70,025 
Short-term borrowings from related parties unsecured 12% 8,746 
Current portion of long-term bank loans   2,785 
Short-term interest payable   5,460 
Total short-term loans and borrowings   220,577 
     
Non-current liabilities    
Long-term bank loans secured 12% - 20% 17,421 
Long-term borrowings unsecured 11% – 
   17,421 

Total loans and borrowings   237,998 

 
All loans and borrowings presented in the table above are at fixed rates and are denominated in 
Russian Rubles. 
 
Terms and debt repayment schedule 
 
Long-term loans and borrowings are payable in the following periods: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 
1 to 2 years 133,095 78,491 22,205 10,236 
3 to 5 years 71,218 127,067 38,285 7,185 

Total 204,313 205,558 60,490 17,421 
 
Pledge obligations and description of security are disclosed in Note 30. 
 
 
19. Finance leases 
 
The Group leases property, plant and equipment under finance lease agreements denominated in 
RUR and USD.  
 
As at 31 December 2011, the amount of future minimum payments under the financial lease 
agreements and the discounted value of the minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

 

Future 
minimum lease 

payments 
Future  

interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Within one year 14,889 1,774 13,115 
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4,467 337 4,130 

 19,356 2,111 17,245 
 
The weighted average rate implicit in the lease agreements as at 31 December 2011 was 19%. 
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19. Finance leases (continued)  
 
As at 31 December 2010, the amount of future minimum payments under the financial lease 
agreements and the discounted value of the minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

 

Future 
minimum lease 

payments 
Future  

interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Within one year 16,441 3,234 13,207 
In the second to fifth years inclusive 12,691 1,456 11,235 

 29,132 4,690 24,442 
 
The weighted average rate implicit in the lease agreements as at 31 December 2011 was 19%. 
 
As at 31 December 2009, the amount of future minimum payments under the financial lease 
agreements and the discounted value of the minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

 

Future 
minimum lease 

payments 
Future 

 interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Within one year 878 209 669 
In the second to fifth years inclusive 931 72 859 

 1,809 281 1,528 
 
The weighted average rate implicit in the lease agreements as at 31 December 2011 was 26%. 
 
As at 1 January 2009, the amount of future minimum payments under the financial lease 
agreements and the discounted value of the minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

 

Future 
minimum lease 

payments 
Future 

 interest 

Present value 
of minimum 

lease 
payments 

Within one year 3,497 770 2,727 
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,828 231 1,597 

 5,325 1,001 4,324 
 
 
20. Accounts payable and promissory notes payable 
 
Trade and other payables as at 31 December comprised the following: 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 

Trade payables 65,590 57,189 65,046 80,503 
Amounts due to customers under 
construction contracts 5,856 10,060 10,218 28,772 

Advances received 9,698 32,604 14,597 47,802 
Payables to employees 29,677 15,483 15,452 17,012 
Other payables 15,459 6,138 4,938 3,826 

Total 126,280 121,474 110,251 177,915 



IG Seismic Services Limited 
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)  
 

(in thousands of US dollars) 
 
 

54 

20. Accounts payable and promissory notes payable (continued)  
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60-day terms. Other 
payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six month. Other payables as at 
31 December 2011 included amounts payable for sale and leaseback agreement in the amount 
of 729 (2010: 4,320; 2009: 0). 
 
In 2008-2010 the Group used its own notes to pay for shares and interest in subsidiaries 
acquired, as well as to pay to suppliers of equipment and inventory. As at 31 December, notes 
issued comprised the following: 
 

 Interest 
rate 

As at 31 December 
As at 

1 January 
2009  2011 2010 2009 

Long-term promissory notes 
payable       

Notes issued to third parties for 
shares  16% – – 16,532 – 

Notes issued to related parties for 
shares  14% – – 4,434 – 

Notes issued to third parties for 
equipment and inventory 7% 14,619 20,960 99 153 

Interest on notes issued to third 
parties – – – 1,332 – 

Interest on notes issued to related 
parties  – – – 400 – 

  14,619 20,960 22,797 153 
Short-term promissory notes 
payable      

Notes issued to third parties for 
shares  16% – 47,788 64,053 14,195 

Notes issued to related parties for 
shares  16% – 22 232 59,834 

Notes issued to third parties for 
equipment and inventory 7% 5,884 411 1,565 153 

Interest on notes issued to third 
parties – – 1,236 4,819 734 

Interest on notes issued to related 
parties – – – 198 3,735 

  5,884 49,457 70,867 78,651 

Total notes  20,503 70,417 93,664 78,804 
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21. Other taxes payable 
 
As at 31 December other taxes and charges payable comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 

Value-added tax payable 43,235 26,714 19,418 13,076 
Property tax payable 1,335 1,410 760 826 
Personal income tax payable 11,807 15,750 11,454 5,572 
Social taxes payable 8,257 6,899 10,060 3,501 
Other taxes and charges 1,206 2,052 702 853 
Environmental duty 96 150 102 164 

Total 65,936 52,975 42,496 23,992 
 
 
22. Provisions 
 
Provisions as at 31 December comprised the following: 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
1 January 

2009 
Provision for tax liabilities 3,061 5,404 17,921 8,010 
Other provisions – 185 697 528 

Total 3,061 5,589 18,618 8,538 
 
The movement in provision for tax liabilities is presented below: 
 
At 1 January 2009 8,010 
Charge for the period 9,668 
Utilized for the period (1,234) 
Translation difference 1,477 

At 31 December 2009 17,921 

Charge for the period 1,041 
Utilized for the period (14,988) 
Translation difference 1,430 

At 31 December 2010 5,404 

Charge for the period 2,096 
Utilized for the period (3,942) 
Translation difference (497) 

At 31 December 2011 3,061 
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23. Construction type contracts 
 
The Group sales include revenues from seismic contracts of 349,373, 333,682 and 279,865 for 
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The status of engineering and service contracts in progress 
as at 31 December 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below: 
 

 

At 
31 December 

2011 

At 
31 December 

2010 

At 
31 December 

2009 
Costs under contracts in progress at the reporting date 208,585 142,854 162,013 
Recognized profits less recognized loss under contracts in 

progress at the reporting date 59,385 35,118 25,350 
Advances received for the period 7,899 63,720 57,916 
 
 
24. Revenue 
 
Revenue for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 

Field seismic operations 349,373 333,682 279,865 
Processing and interpretation of geophysical information 9,451 3,719 5,369 
Other revenue  5,805 6,131 8,713 

Total 364,629 343,532 293,947 
 
 
25. Cost of sales 
 
Cost of sales for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 
Labor and wages, including mandatory social contribution 109,862 99,527 88,402 
Materials and supplies 54,149 51,863 42,346 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 

amortization of intangible assets 30,022 29,019 26,136 
Oilfield services from third parties 65,740 36,056 20,812 
Transportation services 12,404 12,935 11,482 
Operating lease payments 5,469 4,110 3,038 
Other  9,610 9,599 8,362 
Total 287,256 243,109 200,578 
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26. General and administrative expenses 
 
General and administrative expenses for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 
Labor and wages, including mandatory social contribution 26,482 24,916 20,036 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,852 3,046 1,032 
Third party services 6,642 1,678 1,919 
Taxes, other than income tax 3,422 2,604 2,945 
Bank charges 802 1,809 1,244 
Operating lease payments 2,375 2,226 2,179 
Other 5,204 7,583 6,761 
Total 50,779 43,862 36,116 
 
Third party services for 2011, 2010 and 2009 include audit fees equal to 871, 206 and 432 
respectively. During 2011 the Company has also incurred 445 for other non-audit services 
(2010: 0; 2009: 0), 13 for other assurance services (2010: 0; 2009: 0) and 10 for tax services 
(2010: 2; 2009: 2). Transaction costs of 4,854 (Note 4) have also been included within third 
party services. 
 
 
27. Other operating income and expenses 
 
Other operating income for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 
Penalties and fines received 426 675 51 
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment and 

other non-current assets 865 – – 
Restoration of provision for probable claims from tax 

authorities 2,272 5,171 – 
Other income 11,776 1,535 678 
Total 15,339 7,381 729 
 
Other operating income earned in 2011 pertains to increased efficiency of non-core operations 
such as rent of administrative premises, non-seismic services rendered; revenue generated by 
service plants and facilities in the amount of 2,651; and 4,979 income, related to government 
grants received for development of pulse non-explosive seismic exploration technology which is 
being developed in collaboration with Siberian Federal University. No unfulfilled conditions or 
contingencies attaching to government grant exist as of reporting date. 
 
Other operating expenses for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment and 

other non-current assets 16,417 2,861 6,088 
Penalties and fines paid 1,428 719 548 
Provision for probable claims from tax authorities 699 – 5,335 
Other expenses 2,900 7,034 2,983 
Total 21,444 10,614 14,954 
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27. Other operating income and expenses (continued) 
 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets primarily relates 
to loss on disposal and write-off of property plant and equipment of 14,536. The loss originated 
as the book value of fixed assets recorded based on independent valuation performed to account 
for the acquisition prior to 2009 significantly exceeded sale price or did not entail any proceeds 
on write-off of outworn machinery and equipment due to functional obsolescence as well as 
hostile environment the equipment operates in.   
 
 
28. Finance income and expenses 
 
Finance income and expenses for the years ended 31 December comprised the following: 
 
 2011 2010 2009 

Interest income (942) (1,422) (797) 
Gain from redemption of promissory notes (1,255) (16,064) (18,011) 
Gain from restructuring – – (8,933) 
Total finance income (2,197) (17,486) (27,741) 
     
Interest expense on loans and borrowings 35,841 36,465 46,736 
Unwinding of discount of payables for acquisition of 
subsidiaries 9,661 7,663 7,729 

Bank charges on loans and loan accounts 1,670 987 152 
Interest expense on finance lease 4,036 2,245 355 
Total finance expenses 51,208 47,360 54,972 

Net finance income and expenses 49,011 29,874 27,231 
 
During 2010 the Group's promissory notes payable used to acquire the assets, including arrears 
of interest were redeemed at a discount, which resulted in a gain on disposal of promissory 
notes in amount of 16,064. In 2009, gain from redemption of promissory notes was 18,011.  
 
In December 2009 as part of optimization process of the corporate structure of Geotech Group, 
assets and liabilities of CJSC “KGK”, except for mining licenses in the amount of 200, were 
transferred to the newly-established CJSC “ZSGK”. In December 2009, CJSC “KGK” was sold to 
the third party for 9,130; the transaction was settled by promissory notes of Geotech Group. 
This transaction resulted in gain of 8,933 included in finance income. 
 
 
29. Earnings per share 
 
The information on the earnings and number of shares used for determining basic and dilutive 
earnings per share is presented below: 

 2011 2010 2009 
Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the parent from continuing operations (40,842) 14,193 3,931 
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the parent from a discontinued operation (8,370) (4,401) 7,165 
Effect of dilution – – – 
Net (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 

of the parent adjusted to the effect of dilution  (49,212) 9,792 11,096 
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29. Earnings per share (continued) 
 

 2011 2010 2009 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic 

earnings per share  10,860,797 10,833,368 10,833,368 
Effect of dilution – – – 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted 

to the effect of dilution 10,860,797 10,833,368 10,833,368 
 
In calculating the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period in 
which the reverse acquisition occurs: 

• the number of ordinary shares outstanding from the beginning of that period to the 
acquisition date were computed on the basis of the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares of the legal acquiree (accounting acquirer) outstanding during the period multiplied 
by the exchange ratio established in the merger agreement; and 

• the number of ordinary shares outstanding from the acquisition date to the end of that 
period were the actual number of ordinary shares of the legal acquirer (the accounting 
acquiree) outstanding during that period. 

 
The basic earnings per share for each comparative period before the acquisition date presented 
in the consolidated financial statements following a reverse acquisition were calculated by 
dividing: 

• the profit or loss of the legal acquiree attributable to ordinary shareholders in each of 
those periods by 

• the legal acquiree’s historical weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
multiplied by the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement. 

 
No other transactions with ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares were performed 
between the reporting date and the date of these financial statements. 
 
 
30. Financial instruments 
 
The Group’s financial instruments comprise accounts receivable and payable, loans receivable, 
loans payable, and cash, which arise directly from its operations. During the reporting year, the 
Group did not undertake trading in financial instruments. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Financial assets, which potentially subject Group entities to credit risk, consist principally of 
trade receivables (Note 14).  
 
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of services are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. The carrying amount of accounts receivable, net of provision for 
impairment of receivables, represents the maximum amount exposed to credit risk. The Group 
has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Although collection of receivables could be 
influenced by economic factors, management believes that there is no significant risk of loss to 
the Group beyond the allowance already recorded. 
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